
From:
To:
Cc:
Subject: For visibility -  [SEC=PROTECTED, CAVEAT=SH:CABINET]
Date: Tuesday, 2 April 2024 1:47:47 PM
Attachments: image001.jpg

image002.png
image004.png

PROTECTED//CABINET
Hi 

Hope you had a good long weekend! Just tried to call.

Happy to call to discuss next steps.

Thanks,

| Adviser
Communications and Arts | Industry, Infrastructure and Environment Division
Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
p. (02) 6228
Ngunnawal Country, One National Circuit  Barton  ACT  2600  |  PO Box 6500  CANBERRA  ACT  2600
e. @pmc.gov.au  w. pmc.gov.au

The Department acknowledges and pays respect to the past, present and emerging Elders and
Traditional Custodians of Country, and the continuation of cultural, spiritual and educational
practices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

______________________________________________________________________ 
IMPORTANT: This message, and any attachments to it, contains information 
that is confidential and may also be the subject of legal professional or 
other privilege. If you are not the intended recipient of this message, you 
must not review, copy, disseminate or disclose its contents to any other 
party or take action in reliance of any material contained within it. If you 
have received this message in error, please notify the sender immediately by 
return email informing them of the mistake and delete all copies of the 
message from your computer system. 
______________________________________________________________________
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PROTECTED

From: Fell, Anthea 
Sent: Tuesday, 30 April 2024 9:20 AM
To: Gannon, Bridget <Bridget.Gannon@infrastructure.gov.au>;
'Andrew.Irwin@INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au' <Andrew.Irwin@INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au>
Cc: Communications Policy <CommsPolicy@pmc.gov.au>
Subject: Nat Cab - Comms [SEC=PROTECTED]

PROTECTED

FOI 25-095 - Document 2
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PROTECTED//CABINET
Hi 

Thanks for reaching out and for providing that update.

Following the National Cabinet meeting yesterday and the subsequent announcement by
Minister Rowland of the $6.5m for the pilot, 

Thanks again and happy to discuss,

Communications and Arts | Industry, Innovation, Science and Communications
p. (02) 6228

From: @INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au> 
Sent: Friday, 26 April 2024 11:09 AM
To: @pmc.gov.au>
Subject: Age assurance measure in Budget papers [SEC=PROTECTED, CAVEAT=SH:CABINET]
Importance: High

PROTECTED, SH:CABINET

Hi

Just looping you in on a development re: age assurance.

Please let me know if you have any questions.

Kind regards,

FOI 25-095 - Document 3
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From: @infrastructure.gov.au> 
Sent: Thursday, 9 May 2024 5:09 PM
To: Catherine.Fitch@ag.gov.au; @ag.gov.au; Rebekah.kilpatrick@ag.gov.au;

@ag.gov.au; @ag.gov.au; @esafety.gov.au;
@eSafety.gov.au; @dta.gov.au; rick.brown@aic.gov.au;

@aic.gov.au; @education.gov.au; 
@INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au>; @industry.gov.au;

@industry.gov.au; @finance.gov.au; @finance.gov.au;
@pmc.gov.au; @pmc.gov.au; @pmc.gov.au;

@dss.gov.au; @homeaffairs.gov.au; womenspolicy@niaa.gov.au;
esafety.gov.au

Cc: @INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au>; 
@COMMUNICATIONS.gov.au>; Irwin, Andrew

<Andrew.Irwin@INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au>
Subject: [For response by COB Wednesday 15 May] Cross-government working group to support
trial of age assurance [SEC=PROTECTED]

PROTECTED

Good afternoon

As you are aware, on 1 May 2024 National Cabinet met to discuss the national crisis of gender-
based violence, and the Australian Government announced a range of measures aimed at
improving women’s safety. This includes funding in the 2024-25 Budget to conduct a trial of age
assurance technologies to protect children from harmful content, like pornography and other
age-restricted online services: Tackling online harms | Prime Minister of Australia (pm.gov.au)

The Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the
Arts (DITRDCA) will establish a cross-government working group (CGWG) to support
development of the trial. The CGWG will comprise agencies working on online safety, privacy,
security, and human and consumer rights issues.

The CGWG will consider:
A set of criteria against which to assess age assurance technologies
How the trial will navigate cross-cutting policy issues including online safety, privacy,
security, and human and consumer rights
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From:
To:
Subject: RE: Age assurance: FYI -  [SEC=PROTECTED]
Date: Thursday, 23 May 2024 11:36:03 AM
Attachments: image001.jpg

image002.png

PROTECTED
Thank you! Much appreciated J

Communications and Arts
Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
P. 02 6228  |M. 
Ngunnawal Country, One National Circuit Barton ACT 2600 | PO Box 6500 CANBERRA ACT 2600
e. @pmc.gov.au w. pmc.gov.au

The Department acknowledges and pays respect to the past, present and emerging Elders and
Traditional Custodians of Country, and the continuation of cultural, spiritual and educational
practices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

From: @COMMUNICATIONS.gov.au> 
Sent: Thursday, 23 May 2024 9:41 AM
To: @pmc.gov.au>
Cc: @infrastructure.gov.au>; 

@pmc.gov.au>; Irwin, Andrew <Andrew.Irwin@INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au>;
@pmc.gov.au>

Subject: Age assurance: FYI -  [SEC=PROTECTED]

PROTECTED

Good morning 

Thanks for your email – please find attached a draft Senate Estimates brief on the age assurance
trial, which might be of help in preparing for the Cabinet meeting. Let us know if there’s anything
else we can assist with.

Kind regards,

A/g Director • Projects and Implementation Section/Online Safety Branch • Online Safety, Media
and Platforms Division

@communications.gov.au
P +61 2 6136  
GPO Box 594 Canberra, ACT 2601

Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts
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

---------------------------------------------------------------------
Disclaimer

This message has been issued by the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional
Development, Communications and the Arts. The information transmitted is for the use of
the intended recipient only and may contain confidential and/or legally privileged material.
Any review, re-transmission, disclosure, dissemination or other use of, or taking of any
action in reliance upon, this information by persons or entities other than the intended
recipient is prohibited and may result in severe penalties. 
If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the Department on +61 (2) 6274
7111 and delete all copies of this transmission together with any attachments.
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
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Need help? Go to https://help.webex.com <https://help.webex.com>  

 

 

 

OFFICIAL

 

FOI 25-095 - Document 6

s22(1)(a)(ii)
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Need help? Go to https://help.webex.com <https://help.webex.com>  

OFFICIAL

FOI 25-095 - Document 7

s22(1)(a)(ii)
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PROTECTED 

PROTECTED 
Age Assurance Cross-Government Working Group Page 3 of 3 

 

Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet 

Office for Women 

Communications and the Arts  

Department of Social Services Prevention and Early Intervention Branch’ 

Digital Transformation Agency Digital Identity Strategy  

Home Affairs Technology Security Policy Branch 

National Indigenous Australians Agency Women’s Leadership and Gender Equality 

Australian Institute of Criminology  

eSafety Commissioner 
Industry Regulation and Legal Services 

Regulatory Policy and Strategy 

Office of the Australian Information Commissioner Law Reform & Digital Platforms 
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Minutes: Cross-Government Working Group (CGWG) on age assurance 

Thursday 23 May 2024 

1. Welcome, acknowledgement of country and
introduction of attendees

Andrew 
Irwin, All 

11.00am 

Chair - Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the 
Arts  

Attending departments and agencies: 

• Attorney-General’s Department
• Department of Education
• Department of Finance
• Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet
• Department of Social Services
• National Indigenous Affairs Agency
• Australian Institute of Criminology
• eSafety Commissioner
• Office for Women
• Office of the Australian Information Commissioner

3. Role of CGWG and draft Terms of Reference Andrew 
Irwin 

11.10am 

- DITRDCA provided an overview of the role of the CGWG as per the circulated draft Terms
of Reference.

- DITRDCA noted that the age assurance trial sits in parallel with the OSA Phase 2 codes,
which cover the whole online ecosystem.

- The CGWG will support DITRDCA’s work to develop a trial of age assurance technologies. It
will:

o Provide advice on their agencies’ experience with related research, regulation, and
policy areas such as identity, security and privacy.

o Contribute to an Implementation Plan which explains how the trial will be
managed.

o Design aims for research into public preparedness to use age assurance
technologies.

o Advise DITRDCA on criteria for assessing age assurance technologies, and
determine how success is to be measured, and

o Consider international regulatory approaches.
- DITRDCA’s role will be

o Providing a Secretariat for the CGWG.
o Seeking legal advice on implementing age assurance in Australia.
o Procuring consumer research

 This will seek consumer views of the use of different age assurance
technologies, and priorities about safety and privacy.

o Procuring an independent testing organisation to test commercially available
technologies against the assessment criteria, and

o Developing the results of this testing into recommendations for Government.
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Page 2 of 3 
 

Minutes: Cross-Government Working Group (CGWG) on age assurance 

Thursday 23 May 2024 
- DITRDCA acknowledged that the trial builds on the foundation of work done by eSafety, 

and the trial’s scope will cover social media as well as pornography. 
 

4. Discussion of draft Terms of Reference All 11.25am 

- DITRDCA sought initial feedback from agencies on the draft Terms of Reference.  
- Action item: eSafety undertook to share the Roadmap for Age Verification and its 

Background, which will provide useful context for CGWG participants. 
o eSafety also noted that it will soon release: 

 a Tech Trends paper on age assurance technologies, and  
 a public expectations document for industry about the Phase 2 codes 

under the Online Safety Act.  
- NIAA sought advice about how the age assurance trial would bring in the perspectives of 

indigenous people’s online use, given young First Nations Australians have a high take-up 
of social media. 

o DITRDCA stated that it would work with NIAA to ensure vulnerable users are 
included in the trial’s research.  

 

5. Introduction of draft Implementation Plan Andrew 
Irwin 

11.35am 

4. Discussion of draft Implementation Plan All 11.45am 

- DITRDCA sought initial feedback from agencies on the draft Implementation Plan.  
- Participants from eSafety and the Department of Education provided suggestions about 

how to include youth views in the trial. 
- 
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Minutes: Cross-Government Working Group (CGWG) on age assurance 

Thursday 23 May 2024 

5. Next meeting and any other business Andrew 
Irwin 

11.55am 

- DITRDCA reminded participants that red-line comments on the draft implementation plan, 
suggestions for additional members for the CGWG and comments on the draft Terms of 
Reference were requested by 29 May. 

- The next meeting will be held in the second half of July.  

6. Close All 12pm 

 

 

FOI 25-095 - Document 7 - Attachment C

31 of 54

R
el

ea
se

d 
un

de
r t

he
 F

re
ed

om
 o

f I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
A

ct
 1

98
2 

by
 th

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f 

In
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e,
 T

ra
ns

po
rt,

 R
eg

io
na

l D
ev

el
op

m
en

t, 
C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 a

nd
 th

e 
A

rts



OFFICIAL

From: Irwin, Andrew <Andrew.Irwin@INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au> 
Sent: Wednesday, 19 June 2024 8:52 AM
To: Fell, Anthea <Anthea.Fell@pmc.gov.au>; Gannon, Bridget
<Bridget.Gannon@infrastructure.gov.au>
Cc: @pmc.gov.au>
Subject: Re: Summary of current and proposed age limits for various activities [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Useful thanks Anthea!

OFFICIAL

From: "Fell, Anthea" <Anthea.Fell@pmc.gov.au>
Date: Wednesday 19 June 2024 at 8:45:44 AM
To: "Gannon, Bridget" <Bridget.Gannon@infrastructure.gov.au>, "Irwin, Andrew"
<Andrew.Irwin@INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au>
Cc: @pmc.gov.au>
Subject: FW: Summary of current and proposed age limits for various activities [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Hi Bridget and Andrew
This may have been provided already to your branch but wanted to send directly – below and
attached we provided to PMO on request for factual about age limits for various activities. PMO
mentioned it had been discussed between offices so providing for visibility.
AF
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Summary of legal ages for Australian teenagers 

Activity Legal Age Rationale 
Age of criminal 
responsibility  

10 (or 14 in 
most states) 

The Commonwealth minimum age of criminal responsibility 
(MACR) is 10, with a presumption against criminal responsibility for 
children under 14. Jurisdictions also have ages of criminal 
responsibility and several jurisdictions have recently increased 
their MACRs (e.g. NT, ACT, Vic), typically to 14.  
The international average is 14. 

Employment: 
casual and part 
time 

N/A or 13 Generally, in NSW, SA, Tas, ACT and the NT, there’s no minimum 
age for most types of casual or part-time work. 

In Victoria, Western Australia and Queensland, there’s a minimum 
age of 13 years to start casual or part-time work. 

All states and territories have exceptions and restrictions that 
apply to their age-related employment rules, such as not working 
during school hours or doing ‘light-work’. 

TikTok, YouTube, 
Meta (Facebook 
and Instagram), 
Snapchat, X 

13 13 is the minimum age to have an account under each of the 
platforms’ Terms of Service.  

We understand the rationale of this age limit is so that platforms 
do not breach the United States Children’s Online Privacy 
Protection Act of 1998, which prevents collection and storage of 
personal information from children under 13 years of age. 

Healthcare N/A or 14+ At any age, children can visit a doctor without a parent or a 
guardian being present. 

From 14, children can: 
• consent to simple health care treatments
• control what goes into their My Health Record and who has

access to it.
At 15, children can get their own Medicare card, or younger if they 
ask a parent or carer for it. 

From 16, children can consent to medical and dental treatment in 
the same way that adults can. But they don’t have an automatic 
right to refuse treatment, particularly life-saving treatment. 

At 18, they can give full legal consent for medical treatment and 
also refuse it. 

Office of the 
Australian 
Information 
Commissioner 

15 The Australian Privacy Principles guidelines allow organisations to 
presume that an individual over 15 can consent to privacy 
decisions, where it not practicable for that organisation to assess 
capacity on a case-by-case basis.   

Driving 16 To get learner permits to drive cars, children must be 16 years old, 
except in the ACT, where it’s 15 years and 9 months. The minimum 
age at which drivers can get their Ps ranges from 16 years and 6 

FOI 25-095 - Document 8 - Attachment A

35 of 54

R
el

ea
se

d 
un

de
r t

he
 F

re
ed

om
 o

f I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
A

ct
 1

98
2 

by
 th

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f 

In
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e,
 T

ra
ns

po
rt,

 R
eg

io
na

l D
ev

el
op

m
en

t, 
C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 a

nd
 th

e 
A

rts



months in the Northern Territory to 18 years in Victoria. It’s 17 
years in other states and territories. 

Sexual Consent 16 (or 17) Differs by jurisdiction: 
Age 16: 
ACT, NSW, NT, Qld, Vic, WA 
Age 17: 
SA, Tas 
 
In eSafety’s survey of 16-18-year-olds in 2022 to inform the Age 
Verification Roadmap, it found one in two respondents think the 
age of access to online pornography should match the age of 
consent (eSafety, 2023, Age Verification Roadmap) 

Sexting Sexting can be a 
crime if it 
involves people 
under 18. 

The laws around sexting (including the definition of sexting) differ 
between the states. Image-based sexting is illegal in all Australian 
states and territories except in Victoria and Tasmania. In Victoria 
and Tasmania, there are legal defences for sexting if both people 
are under 18 and there’s no more than a 2-year age gap. 

Drinking alcohol 18 VIC, WA, SA, Qld, ACT, NSW – under 18s can drink under adult 
supervision in private residence. 

Gambling 18 18 for all states and territories, including lottery and scratchy cards, 
pokies, TAB, at casinos and online/apps. 

Australian 
Government 
Privacy Law 

18 The Australian Government response to the Privacy Act Review 
agrees with the Review’s recommendation that a child be defined 
as an individual not yet 18 years of age, and agrees to establish a 
Children’s Online Privacy Code following legislative reforms 
enabling such a code.   

Marriage 18 Under the Marriage Act 1961, a person cannot get married before 
they reach the age of 18 unless there are exceptional 
circumstances (in which case court approval and consent of a 
parent or guardian is required). 

Protections under 
Online Safety Act 
2021 

18 The Online Safety Act 2021 uses the definition of an adult as any 
person aged 18+, and similarly a child is anyone under 18. This 
definition is relevant to regulatory schemes such as the Adult Cyber 
Abuse Scheme and the Cyberbullying Scheme, which provide 
actions available to eSafety under the Act to address cyberbullying 
of Australian adults and children, respectively. 
 
This definition is also relevant to the amended Basic Online Safety 
Expectations (BOSE) Determination and the new expectation on 
online service providers to ensure that the best interests of the 
child are a primary consideration in the design and operation of 
any service likely to be accessed by children. 

 
*There are no Australian laws about when children are allowed to have mobile phones or 
use the internet. 
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Summary of current and proposed ages to limit or restrict social media access 

State Age proposed Rationale 
Victoria No specific age 

proposed  
The Premier has called for a national response to social media. 

Queensland 14 Queensland’s Chief Health Officer declared a “public health alert” 
in 2024, with Queensland Health recommending that parents 
should limit social media access for children under 14, support 
children as social media is introduced, and restrict time until 
healthy habits are established. 

South Australia 14 Has appointed former Chief Justice of the High Court, 
Robert French AC to conduct a legal examination into banning 
children under the age of 14 from having social media accounts. 

New South Wales 16 Proposed age limit on social media: Hosting a Social Media Summit 
in October. 

Key facts regarding children’s access online: 
• According to DITRDCA, 45% of parents and carers in Australia do not use any parental

controls (eSafety, 2023, Age Verification Roadmap).
• 2022 UK research by OfCom found 60% of children under the age of 13 have social

media accounts, despite not being old enough – and 39% of children aged 8-12 with a
social media profile have a user age of 16+. This means age-specific safety measures will
not be properly enabled and therefore will not be effective (eSafety, 2023, Age
Verification Roadmap).

• eSafety’s research with 16-18-year-olds for the Age Verification Roadmap found 75% of
participants had seen online pornography (eSafety, 2023, Age Verification Roadmap).

o Of those, nearly one third saw it before the age of 13, and nearly half saw it
between the ages of 13 and 15

• In eSafety’s survey of 16-18-year-olds in 2022 to inform the Age Verification Roadmap, it
found one in two respondents think the age of access to online pornography should
match the age of consent (eSafety, 2023, Age Verification Roadmap).

• More than three in four (78%) Australian adults support government implementation of
age assurance for online pornography. However, there are concerns about effectiveness,
privacy, and security (2021, eSafety)

o Despite these concerns, 34% ‘supported’ and 44% ‘strongly supported’ the
concept of the Australian government implementing an age verification initiative.

• The negative impacts of pornography are more pronounced in children under 14,
marginalised and at-risk young people, and high frequency users of pornography
(eSafety consultations 2022)

• Access and exposure to pornography for under 16s is generally seen as inappropriate. A
more nuanced approach to pornography should be considered for young people who
have reached the age of sexual consent (16- to 17-year-olds). (eSafety consultations
2022)
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PROTECTED
 

From: @pmc.gov.au> 
Sent: Thursday, 27 June 2024 2:04 PM
To: Irwin, Andrew <Andrew.Irwin@INFRASTRUCTURE.gov.au>; 

@pmc.gov.au>
Cc: Gannon, Bridget <Bridget.Gannon@infrastructure.gov.au>; 

@infrastructure.gov.au>; 
@COMMUNICATIONS.gov.au>

Subject: RE: FYI - Letter from Minister Rowland - Trial of age assurance technologies
[SEC=PROTECTED, CAVEAT=SH:CABINET]
 

PROTECTED//CABINET
Thanks Andrew, we’ll let you know if we have any questions.
 
Regards
 

| Senior Adviser
Communications and Arts | Industry, Infrastructure and Environment Division
Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
p. 02 6228  | 
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
Sent: Thursday, 27 June 2024 1:47 PM
To: @pmc.gov.au>; @pmc.gov.au>
Cc: Gannon, Bridget <Bridget.Gannon@infrastructure.gov.au>; 

@infrastructure.gov.au>; 
@COMMUNICATIONS.gov.au>

Subject: FYI - Letter from Minister Rowland - Trial of age assurance technologies
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
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Document 9B (pages 43 to 54) has been removed under sections 34(1)(a) and 34(1)(d) of 
the FOI ACT 1982. 
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